WRITTEN BY: Nie Fei TRANSLATED BY: Zhou Wenjun, Zhan Xiaowu

Chinese Classical Furniture



Highlights of Auctioned Chinese Antiques



WRITTEN BY : Nie Fei
TRANSLATED BY : Zhou Wenjun, Zhan Xiaowu

Chinese Classical Furniture



Highlights of Auctioned Chinese Antiques



图书在版编目(CIP)数据

中国古董拍卖精华. 古典家具:英文/聂菲编著. --长沙:湖南美术出版社, 2012 3

ISBN 978-7-5356-5186-0

I.①中···Ⅱ.①聂···Ⅲ.①家具-拍卖-中国-古代-图集 W.①F724.59-64

中国版本图书馆CIP数据核字(2012)第032451号

CLASSIC FURNITURE OF HIGHLIGHTS OF AUCTIONED CHINESE ANTIQUES

PUBLISHER: LI XIAOSHAN

SUPERVISOR: ZHANG XIAO, YAN HUA

AUTHOR: NIE FEI

Translator: Zhou Wenjun, Zhan Xiaowu

EDITOR IN CHARGE: LIU HAIZHEN, LIU YINGZHENG

PROOF-READING: PENG HUI

GRAPHIC DESIGN: XIAO RUIZI, HU SHANSHAN,

SHU XIAOWEN

PLATE-MAKING: SUN YAN, XIONG JIE ENGLISH EVALUATION: XIAO FANG

PUBLISHING AND DISTRIBUTION HOUSE: HUNAN FINE ARTS PUBLISHING HOUSE (NO.622, SECTION 1, EASTERN BELTWAY 2,

CHANGSHA, HUNAN, CHINA)

DISTRIBUTOR: HUNAN XINHUA BOOKSTORE CO., LTD.

PRINTING HOUSE: SHENZHEN HUA XIN PRINTING CO., LTD.

SIZE: 787 × 1092 1/16

SHEETS: 10

VERSION: MAY 2012, FIRST EDITION:

MAY 2012. FIRST PRINTING

ISBN: ISBN 978-7-5356-5186-0 PRICE: USD \$19.90/ CNY ¥ 98.00

CONTENTS

Guide to the Use of This Series /7

Preface / 8

I. Beds and Couches

Beech Red Lacquer Large Alcove Bed / 21

Huanghuali Canopy Bed with Latticework Railing / 22

Beech Enclosure Boards Canopy Bed / 24

Beech Canopy Bed / 25

Huanghuali Dragon Motif Canopy Bed / 26

Huanghuali Six-post Canopy Bed / 27

Huanghuali Geometric Pattern Arhat Bed / 28

Five-Screen Arhat Bed / 29

Red Sandalwood Cloud-Dragon Design Arhat Bed / 30

Rosewood Arhat Bed / 31

Rosewood Mother-of-pearl Inlaid Marble Arhat Bed / 32

Hainan Huanghuali Arhat Bed / 33

Couches / 34

Huanghuali Humpbacked Stretcher Ta / 34

Rosewood Marble Inlaid Couch / 34

II. Chairs

Huanghuali Cloud Motif Round-backed Armchair (one pair) / 35

Huanghuali Cloud Motifs Round-Backed Armchair (one pair) / 36

Huanghuali Round-back Armchair (one pair) / 37

Rosewood Round-backed Armchair / 38

Hainan Huanghuali Cloud Dragon Motif Round-backed Armchair (three-piece) / 39

Huanghuali Folding Chair / 40

Huanghuali Rose Chair (one pair) / 41

Huanghuali Mullioned Rose Chair (one pair) / 42

Rosewood Comb-back Chair (one pair) / 43

Huanghuali Southern Official's Hat Armchair (one pair) / 44

Huanghuali Shou Motif Southern Official's Hat Armchair (one pair) / 45

Huanghuali Southern Official's Hat Armchair (one pair) / 46

Huanghuali Southern Official's Hat Armchair (one pair) / 47

Huanghuali Yokeback Armchair (one pair) / 48

Huanghuali Yokeback Armchair (one pair) / 49

Huanghuali Lamp-hanger Chair (four pieces) / 50

Red Sandalwood Scroll Taishivi (a set of eight chairs and four incense stands) / 52

Red Lacquer Dragon and Shou Motif Taishiyi (one pair) / 54

Carved Red Lacquer Armchair / 55

Rosewood Ganoderma Taishi Armchair (a set of four) / 56

Red Sandalwood Chan Yi (one pair) / 57

Tieli Wood Table and Chair (three pieces) / 58

Stools / 59

Tieli Wood Long Bench / 59

Huanghuali Square Stool / 60

Huanghuali Cross Stretcher Square Stool / 61

Red Sandalwood Lotus Motif Square Stool (one pair) / 62

Red Sandalwood Square Stool / 63

Imperial Rosewood Round Stool with Inlaid China Seat with the inscription of "Made in Yongzheng Era, Qing Dynasty" / 64

Red Sandalwood Lotus Motif Embroidery Stool (one pair) / 65

Huanghuali Eight Legs Drum Stool / 66

Red Sandalwood Lotus Motif Stool (a set of six) / 67

Red Sandalwood Embroidery Stool (one pair) / 68

Thrones / 69

Imperial Five-screen Lacquer Throne with Cloud and Dragon Motif / 69

Imperial Red Sandalwood Throne with Cloud and Dragon Motif / 70

Imperial Red Sandalwood Throne with Cloud and Dragon / 71

Rosewood Dragon Pattern Throne / 72

Frusta, Painting Table and Throne / 73

III. Tables and Cases

Huanghuali Dragon Pattern Flanged Long Table / 74

Huanghuali Flanged Table with Cloud Pattern / 75

Huanghuali Flanged Table with Cloud Pattern / 76

Huanghuali Dragon Pattern Flanged Table / 77

Huanghuali Flanged Table / 78

Huanghuali Flanged stand / 79

Huanghuali Flat-edged Table / 80

Huanghuali Flat-edged Table / 81

Gold-rimmed Nanmu and Rosewood Trestle Table / 82

Huanghuali Table with a Solid Board / 82

Red Sandalwood Painting Table / 83

Stands / 84

Red Lacquer Dragon Pattern Incense Stand / 84

Red Sandalwood Guaizi Motif Incense Stand / 85

Red Sandalwood Dragon Pattern Narrow Waistless Table / 86

Tables / 87

Huanghuali Humpbacked Stretcher Rectangular Table / 87

Huanghuali Square Table / 88

Huanghuali Painting Table / 89

Huanghuali Dragon and Cloud Motifs Painting Table / 90

Huanghuali Flanged Table / 91

Huanghuali Demountable Chess Table / 92

Huanghuali Half Table with Interlocking Circles / 93

Red Sandalwood Flower Engraved Half Round Table / 94

Redwood Half Round Table Inlaid with Mother-of-pearl and Marble / 95

Red Sandalwood Flower Engraved Half Round Table (one pair) / 96

Qianlong Red Sandalwood Octagon Lotus Table / 97

Red Lacquer Kang Table / 98

Huanghuali Dragon Pattern Kang Table / 99

Huanghuali Lotus Pattern Cabriole Leg Kang Table / 100

Red Sandalwood Dragon Pattern Kang Table / 101

Redwood Kang Table / 102

Rosewood Six Drawers Marble Writing Table / 103

Qing Rosewood Four Drawers Writing Table with Stands / 104

Platforms / 105

Huanghuali Five-screen Mirror Platform / 105

Ming Huanghuali Five-screen Mirror Platform / 106

Huanghuali Five-screen Mirror Platform / 107

Huanghuali Double-Dragon Pattern Square Stand / 108

Rosewood Flower Engraved Dressing Table / 109

IV. Cabinets and Chests

Cabinets / 110

Huanghuali Treasures Inlaid Cabinet / 110

Red Lacquer Painting Cabinet / 111

Huanghuali Cloud Dragon Pattern Cabinet (one pair) / 112

Huanghuali Cabinet / 114

Gilding Color-painting Flower and Bird Motifs Cabinet / 115

Red Lacquer Cloud Dragon Motif Cabinet / 116

Red Lacquer Cloud Dragon Cabinet / 117

Huanghuali Round-corner Cabinet / 118

Huanghuali Round-corner Cabinet / 119

Huanghuali Round-corner Cabinet with Hidden Compartment (one pair) / 120

Black-lacquer Small Round Table Inlaid with Mother-of pearl and Pictures Depicting Stories / 121

Huanghuali Round-corner Kang Cabinet / 122

Huanghuali Dragon Motif Open Shelf Cabinet (one pair) / 123

Huanghuali Square-corner Cabinet / 124

Huanghuali Square Cabinet / 125

Closets / 126

Huanghuali Three-drawer Closet / 126

Huanghuali Dragon Motif Three-drawer Closet / 127

Huanghuali Dragon Motif Two-drawer Closet / 128

Shelves / 129

Golden Carved Lacquer Dragon Pattern Shelf (one pair) / 129

Huanghuali Railing Shelf / 130

Walnut Bookshelf / 131

Red Sandalwood Shelf (one pair) / 132

Redwood Inlaid Boxwood Display Shelf / 133

Red Sandalwood Display Cabinet with Engraved Flower Designs (one pair) / 135

Rosewood Curio Shelf / 136

Western Carving Pattern Curio Shelf (one pair) / 137

Boxs / 138

Imperial Huanghuali Dragon Pattern Trunk / 138

Huanghuali Hipped Roof Trunk / 139

Huanghuali Hipped Roof Trunk / 140

Huanghuali Hipped Roof Trunk / 141

Red Sandalwood Cloud Dragon Pattern Trunk / 142

Huanghuali Trunk (one pair) / 143

V. Stands

Chicken Wing Wood Bookshelf / 144

Huanghuali Bookshelf / 145

Huanghuali Stand of Scale / 146

Natural Root Stool / 147

Red Sandalwood Lamp Stand with Painting in Glass / 148

VI. Screens

Rosewood Jade Inlaid Five-panel Screen / 149

Huanghuali Flowers in Relief Screen (four pieces) / 150

Rosewood Folding Screen in Relief (twelve pieces) / 151

Red Sandalwood Dragon Screen / 152

Rosewood Guangdong Embroidery Folding Screen / 154

Red Sandalwood Treasure Inlaid Table Screen / 155

Red Sandalwood Jade Inlaid Table Screen (one pair) / 156

Red Sandalwood Jade Inlaid Table Screen / 157

Red Lacquer Table Screen (one pair) / 158

Red Lacquer Hanging Screen / 159

Imperial Red Lacquer Hanging Screen / 160

Chinese Classical Furniture



Highlights of Auctioned Chinese Antiques

图书在版编目(CIP)数据

中国古董拍卖精华. 古典家具:英文/聂菲编著. --长沙:湖南美术出版社, 2012 3

ISBN 978-7-5356-5186-0

I.①中···Ⅱ.①聂···Ⅲ.①家具-拍卖-中国-古代-图集 W.①F724.59-64

中国版本图书馆CIP数据核字(2012)第032451号

CLASSIC FURNITURE OF HIGHLIGHTS OF AUCTIONED CHINESE ANTIQUES

PUBLISHER: LI XIAOSHAN

SUPERVISOR: ZHANG XIAO, YAN HUA

AUTHOR: NIE FEI

Translator: Zhou Wenjun, Zhan Xiaowu

EDITOR IN CHARGE: LIU HAIZHEN, LIU YINGZHENG

PROOF-READING: PENG HUI

GRAPHIC DESIGN: XIAO RUIZI, HU SHANSHAN,

SHU XIAOWEN

PLATE-MAKING: SUN YAN, XIONG JIE ENGLISH EVALUATION: XIAO FANG

Publishing and Distribution House: Hunan Fine Arts Publishing House (No.622, Section 1, Eastern Beltway 2,

CHANGSHA, HUNAN, CHINA)

DISTRIBUTOR: HUNAN XINHUA BOOKSTORE CO., LTD.

PRINTING HOUSE: SHENZHEN HUA XIN PRINTING CO., LTD.

SIZE: 787 × 1092 1/16

SHEETS: 10

VERSION: MAY 2012, FIRST EDITION:

MAY 2012, FIRST PRINTING

ISBN: ISBN 978-7-5356-5186-0 PRICE: USD \$19.90/ CNY Y 98.00

CONTENTS

Guide to the Use of This Series /7

Preface / 8

I. Beds and Couches

Beech Red Lacquer Large Alcove Bed / 21

Huanghuali Canopy Bed with Latticework Railing / 22

Beech Enclosure Boards Canopy Bed / 24

Beech Canopy Bed / 25

Huanghuali Dragon Motif Canopy Bed / 26

Huanghuali Six-post Canopy Bed / 27

Huanghuali Geometric Pattern Arhat Bed / 28

Five-Screen Arhat Bed / 29

Red Sandalwood Cloud-Dragon Design Arhat Bed / 30

Rosewood Arhat Bed / 31

Rosewood Mother-of-pearl Inlaid Marble Arhat Bed / 32

Hainan Huanghuali Arhat Bed / 33

Couches / 34

Huanghuali Humpbacked Stretcher Ta / 34

Rosewood Marble Inlaid Couch / 34

II. Chairs

Huanghuali Cloud Motif Round-backed Armchair (one pair) / 35

Huanghuali Cloud Motifs Round-Backed Armchair (one pair) / 36

Huanghuali Round-back Armchair (one pair) / 37

Rosewood Round-backed Armchair / 38

Hainan Huanghuali Cloud Dragon Motif Round-backed Armchair (three-piece) / 39

Huanghuali Folding Chair / 40

Huanghuali Rose Chair (one pair) / 41

Huanghuali Mullioned Rose Chair (one pair) / 42

Rosewood Comb-back Chair (one pair) / 43

Huanghuali Southern Official's Hat Armchair (one pair) / 44

Huanghuali Shou Motif Southern Official's Hat Armchair (one pair) / 45

Huanghuali Southern Official's Hat Armchair (one pair) / 46

Huanghuali Southern Official's Hat Armchair (one pair) / 47

Huanghuali Yokeback Armchair (one pair) / 48

Huanghuali Yokeback Armchair (one pair) / 49

Huanghuali Lamp-hanger Chair (four pieces) / 50

Red Sandalwood Scroll Taishiyi (a set of eight chairs and four incense stands) / 52

Red Lacquer Dragon and Shou Motif Taishiyi (one pair) / 54

Carved Red Lacquer Armchair / 55

Rosewood Ganoderma Taishi Armchair (a set of four) / 56

Red Sandalwood Chan Yi (one pair) / 57

Tieli Wood Table and Chair (three pieces) / 58

Stools / 59

Tieli Wood Long Bench / 59

Huanghuali Square Stool / 60

Huanghuali Cross Stretcher Square Stool / 61

Red Sandalwood Lotus Motif Square Stool (one pair) / 62

Red Sandalwood Square Stool / 63

Imperial Rosewood Round Stool with Inlaid China Seat with the inscription of "Made in Yongzheng Era, Qing Dynasty" / 64

Red Sandalwood Lotus Motif Embroidery Stool (one pair) / 65

Huanghuali Eight Legs Drum Stool / 66

Red Sandalwood Lotus Motif Stool (a set of six) / 67

Red Sandalwood Embroidery Stool (one pair) / 68

Thrones / 69

Imperial Five-screen Lacquer Throne with Cloud and Dragon Motif / 69

Imperial Red Sandalwood Throne with Cloud and Dragon Motif / 70

Imperial Red Sandalwood Throne with Cloud and Dragon / 71

Rosewood Dragon Pattern Throne / 72

Frusta, Painting Table and Throne / 73

III. Tables and Cases

Huanghuali Dragon Pattern Flanged Long Table / 74

Huanghuali Flanged Table with Cloud Pattern / 75

Huanghuali Flanged Table with Cloud Pattern / 76

Huanghuali Dragon Pattern Flanged Table / 77

Huanghuali Flanged Table / 78

Huanghuali Flanged stand / 79

Huanghuali Flat-edged Table / 80

Huanghuali Flat-edged Table / 81

Gold-rimmed Nanmu and Rosewood Trestle Table / 82

Huanghuali Table with a Solid Board / 82

Red Sandalwood Painting Table / 83

Stands / 84

Red Lacquer Dragon Pattern Incense Stand / 84

Red Sandalwood Guaizi Motif Incense Stand / 85

Red Sandalwood Dragon Pattern Narrow Waistless Table / 86

Tables / 87

Huanghuali Humpbacked Stretcher Rectangular Table / 87

Huanghuali Square Table / 88

Huanghuali Painting Table / 89

Huanghuali Dragon and Cloud Motifs Painting Table / 90

Huanghuali Flanged Table / 91

Huanghuali Demountable Chess Table / 92

Huanghuali Half Table with Interlocking Circles / 93

Red Sandalwood Flower Engraved Half Round Table / 94

Redwood Half Round Table Inlaid with Mother-of-pearl and Marble / 95

Red Sandalwood Flower Engraved Half Round Table (one pair) / 96

Qianlong Red Sandalwood Octagon Lotus Table / 97

Red Lacquer Kang Table / 98

Huanghuali Dragon Pattern Kang Table / 99

Huanghuali Lotus Pattern Cabriole Leg Kang Table / 100

Red Sandalwood Dragon Pattern Kang Table / 101

Redwood Kang Table / 102

Rosewood Six Drawers Marble Writing Table / 103

Qing Rosewood Four Drawers Writing Table with Stands / 104

Platforms / 105

Huanghuali Five-screen Mirror Platform / 105

Ming Huanghuali Five-screen Mirror Platform / 106

Huanghuali Five-screen Mirror Platform / 107

Huanghuali Double-Dragon Pattern Square Stand / 108

Rosewood Flower Engraved Dressing Table / 109

IV. Cabinets and Chests

Cabinets / 110

Huanghuali Treasures Inlaid Cabinet / 110

Red Lacquer Painting Cabinet / 111

Huanghuali Cloud Dragon Pattern Cabinet (one pair) / 112

Huanghuali Cabinet / 114

Gilding Color-painting Flower and Bird Motifs Cabinet / 115

Red Lacquer Cloud Dragon Motif Cabinet / 116

Red Lacquer Cloud Dragon Cabinet / 117

Huanghuali Round-corner Cabinet / 118

Huanghuali Round-corner Cabinet / 119

Huanghuali Round-corner Cabinet with Hidden Compartment (one pair) / 120

Black-lacquer Small Round Table Inlaid with Mother-of pearl and Pictures Depicting Stories / 121

Huanghuali Round-corner Kang Cabinet / 122

Huanghuali Dragon Motif Open Shelf Cabinet (one pair) / 123

Huanghuali Square-corner Cabinet / 124

Huanghuali Square Cabinet / 125

Closets / 126

Huanghuali Three-drawer Closet / 126

Huanghuali Dragon Motif Three-drawer Closet / 127

Huanghuali Dragon Motif Two-drawer Closet / 128

Shelves / 129

Golden Carved Lacquer Dragon Pattern Shelf (one pair) / 129

Huanghuali Railing Shelf / 130

Walnut Bookshelf / 131

Red Sandalwood Shelf (one pair) / 132

Redwood Inlaid Boxwood Display Shelf / 133

Red Sandalwood Display Cabinet with Engraved Flower Designs (one pair) / 135

Rosewood Curio Shelf / 136

Western Carving Pattern Curio Shelf (one pair) / 137

Boxs / 138

Imperial Huanghuali Dragon Pattern Trunk / 138

Huanghuali Hipped Roof Trunk / 139

Huanghuali Hipped Roof Trunk / 140

Huanghuali Hipped Roof Trunk / 141

Red Sandalwood Cloud Dragon Pattern Trunk / 142

Huanghuali Trunk (one pair) / 143

V. Stands

Chicken Wing Wood Bookshelf / 144

Huanghuali Bookshelf / 145

Huanghuali Stand of Scale / 146

Natural Root Stool / 147

Red Sandalwood Lamp Stand with Painting in Glass / 148

VI. Screens

Rosewood Jade Inlaid Five-panel Screen / 149

Huanghuali Flowers in Relief Screen (four pieces) / 150

Rosewood Folding Screen in Relief (twelve pieces) / 151

Red Sandalwood Dragon Screen / 152

Rosewood Guangdong Embroidery Folding Screen / 154

Red Sandalwood Treasure Inlaid Table Screen / 155

Red Sandalwood Jade Inlaid Table Screen (one pair) / 156

Red Sandalwood Jade Inlaid Table Screen / 157

Red Lacquer Table Screen (one pair) / 158

Red Lacquer Hanging Screen / 159

Imperial Red Lacquer Hanging Screen / 160

Guide to the Use of This Series

- 1. "Highlights of Auctioned Chinese Antiques" comprises five volumes, namely, "Bamboo, Wood, Ivory and Horn Carvings", "Porcelain", "Jadeware", "Bronzeware" and "Ancient Furniture". Each volume contains around 150 representative items put up for auction from 1995 to 2010 at auctions held by dozens of auction companies from cities like New York, Nagel, London, Hong Kong, Macau, Taipei, Beijing, Shanghai, Tianjin, Nanjing, Guangzhou, Kunming, Chengdu and Jinan. The selection of the items is based on the style, texture, form, decorative pattern, workmanship, function, cultural implication and value of the antiques in question, including some items which have not yet been transacted.
- 2. Each volume retains the original record of auctions and the items are arranged in order of dynasty, name, dimension, transaction price (or estimate price), auction company, date of transaction and item analysis.
- 3. Due to different origins of auction companies, the prices of the antiques in US dollar, Euro, Great Britain Pound, Hong Kong dollar or Taiwan dollar, have been converted into RMB according to current exchange rates.

Preface

Antique Furniture Collection and Investment

Nie Fei

Chinese antique furniture enjoys thousand-year-long history from the Neolithic Age to Nineteenth Century. With Chinese folk customs, geography and climate, manufacturing and religion factors, Chinese antique furniture forms a fine craftsmanship, simple design and proper decoration style which differs from its counterpart in western and is the unique one in the world. Chinese antique furniture, the rarity in antique artworks, is of commercial value and artistic merit. Chinese antique furniture is now becoming the attraction to collectors. Comparing to other antiques collections, Chinese antique furniture collection is behind the pace, however, in recent years, Chinese antique furniture attracts collectors with its good materials, fine craftsmanship and delicate design. With the high investment value, the professionals predict that antique furniture collection market will come to its peak time several years in future.

In recent years, a few books and writings on antique furniture have been published, which focus mainly on the identification and collection but with less attention to its auction market. This book, summing up the categories of Ming and Qing Dynasty furniture as well as their characters in shape and different periods, aims at providing the basics of antique furniture collection and investment. Chinese artwork auction market records are included in this book so that the collectors can have a necessary perception about the furniture auction market and then make a good purchase.

I. Introduction to the Furniture Auction Market

Artwork auction market started in 1992, and no furniture had been sold at auction until 1994. The first piece of furniture sold at auction means that Chinese antique furniture, one kind of important life utensil and art, plays an important role at artwork auction market. The statistics show that from 1994 to 2010, 10,047 pieces among 18,989 auction items were sold with a total turnover of 3.4392 billion, which makes 52.9 percent transaction rate. Auction lots include the furniture of the Ming Dynasty, Qing Dynasty, the Republic of China era and modern times, varying in categories from life utensils to decorating ones with different materials and techniques. The furniture in auction presents a long history of Chinese antique and the superb craftsmanship especially in the Ming and Qing Dynasty which are known as the marvelous and magnificent one. And the Chinese antique furniture at auction manifests some distinguishing characteristics.

Firstly, there is an increasing number in quantity and category. Increasing from 27 in 1994 to 5513 in 2010, the number of auction furniture was two hundred times as much as that of 16 years ago. The category at auction develops from chairs and tables only in the early period to sorts of furniture nowadays as beds&couches, chairs& stools, tables&cases, cabinets&chests, frames&shelves and screens, etc. The auction furniture varies in decoration from lacquer engraving, inlaying, color-painting, lacquering, and gilding etc. Due to the decreasing number of auction furniture made of Huanghuali wood, red sandalwood

and rosewood, furniture of other material gets increased, such as chicken-wing wood, Tieli wood, beech, ebony, boxwood, Chinese catalpa, elm and walnut etc. At the same time, the furniture auction market is getting increasingly prosperous.

Secondly, quantity ascends with price. The transaction statistics reveal that furniture transaction was far from prosperous from 1994 to 2003. But in 2003, the auction transaction rate raised first and the turnover followed. The transaction turnover grew from RMB 980 thousand in 1994 to RMB 1.97095 billion in 2010, which was over two thousand times as much as that of 16 years ago. A set of Qing Dynasty Huanghuali cabinet carved with cloud and dragon motifs was traded for RMB 9.438 million at China Guardian Auction in 2002. In Nov. 2004, the same one was auctioned with a new record of RMB 11 million at Beijing Hanhai Auction. It is amazing to see that Ming-Qing furniture auction market is getting prosperous in 2010. The annual turnover in 2009 is RMB 471.35 million, while it increases by 4.2 times in 2010. On Nov. 21, 2010, a Ming Dynasty Huanghuali six-poster canopy bed with latticework railings was sold at China Guardian 2010 Autumn Auction at a price of RMB 43.12 million, setting a new record in the history of Huanghuali furniture auction. The price of the auction furniture keeps breaking new records, and so does Ming-Qing furniture. A Huanghuali brazier stand in the Ming Dynasty was sold at 7.95 thousand dollars at New York Christie's Auction on Sep.1, 1996. After ten years, the same stand was sold at 216 thousand dollars in Christie's on Sep.20, 2005, which increased by 27 times. This piece of furniture was the tenth one of the most expensive Chinese antique furniture list in 2005. Contrary to the increasing auction turnover, the transaction volume declined, which indicates that the antique furniture survived in fewer numbers.

Thirdly, the average transaction rate is above 50%. From the statistics, 20 pieces of furniture among the 27 furniture lots were sold at the auction in 1994, which makes a transaction rate of 74%. In 1996, 67 among 127 lots were sold, making a transaction rate of 53%. 67 and 1023 single lots were traded respectively in 2001 and 2007, and the transaction rate was 34% and 39%. In 2010, 3318 of 5513 furniture lots were auctioned, and the transaction rate was 60%. With more attention being drawn to the furniture collection in recent several years, the transaction rate in some furniture auction session even reached 100%. For an example, all of the 61 auction lots of Huanghuali furniture were sold out with a turnover RMB 259 million at "Simplicity and Elegance — Ming Style Huanghuali Furniture" auction of China Guardian on Nov. 21, 2010, which marks the magnificence of auction market.

Fourthly, fakes and forgeries are still in furniture auction market. With the rising number of antique furniture collectors, antique furniture gets its popularity and ranks in the third place after Chinese paintings & calligraphy and ceramic collection, thus attracts the forgers. As a matter of fact, imitating antiques has a long history in China and there are several ways of imitation. The first is imposture. With the commercial and

artistic value, Ming-Qing furniture draws the attention of both collectors and imitators, therefore, the famous antique furniture in history were copied for excessive profit. The second is blending, which is to create one piece of furniture that never existed before, to mix one from different periods and styles, or to divide one into different parts for excessive profit. The third is antique finishing. The imitators attempt to create a replica by making similar color and texture to the antique or finishing in a veneer. The fourth is altering, which includes faking the year of the genuine antique or faking the year of the replica, etc.

II. Analysis of Furniture Market

The price of antique furniture, being initially low, hasn't increased until recent years, therefore, it is of great significance to know the development of the furniture market.

1. The marginal categories becoming the new attraction

As the Chinese artwork market ran, paintings and calligraphy, porcelain and jades have been playing a significant role in antique market. Taking jades as an instance, from 1994 to 2005, the number of jades, being sold at different auctions, reached more than 30 thousand. Different from porcelain and jades, antique furniture is large in size and survives in fewer numbers, drawing less attention due to the price, number and historical status of furniture. Having no idea about the artistic value of antique furniture, people believe that Ming-Qing furniture is only for daily use or is a kind of handicraft article at best, but never consider it as antique. In the early years, collectors thought that furniture was of little significance in auction market; hence they paid no attention to it. Whilst, just as every coin has two sides, the opportunity comes from the ignorance of the public, and the marginal categories at auction have become the new attraction these years.

Firstly, as the proverb "Flower in and fragrance out" goes, the one is not appreciable at home but draw the attention abroad. The statistics demonstrate that from the 1990s, the Ming-Qing furniture began to stage at New York, London, Hong Kong auctions, each taking up 30% of the auction lots, and therefore played an important role in international antique market. New York Christie's held "China Antique Furniture Museum Auction" on Sep.29, 1996. It was a great success with a turnover of 100.9 million dollars, and 107 auction lots had all been sold out. In recent ten years, Chinese furniture market keeps developing, and more Ming-Qing furniture staged at Hong Kong Sotheby's, Hong Kong Christie's, Beijing Hanhai and China Guardian Auctions.

Secondly, with the segmentation of auction market, the marginal categories have got more opportunities. Chinese artwork auction market is now of a new and diversified situation, and the categories are subdivided into paintings, albums of paintings or calligraphy, calligraphy, furniture, Guqin, stamps, bronze mirrors, porcelain and imperial jade seals, which had been the minority part of auction. The